
 
Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda                                                        Page 1 of 2 
 
 

MORROW COUNTY BOARD OF COMMISSIONERS MEETING AGENDA 
Wednesday, December 7, 2022 at 9:00 a.m. 

Bartholomew Building Upper Conference Room 
110 N. Court St., Heppner, Oregon 
Zoom Meeting Information on Page 2 

 
1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance - 9:00 a.m. 
2. City/Citizen Comments:  Individuals may address the Board on topics not on the agenda 
3. Open Agenda:  The Board may introduce subjects not on the agenda 
4. Consent Calendar 

a. Approve Accounts Payable and Payroll Payables 
b. Minutes:  June 24th – Version 1 or 2 
c. Intergovernmental Agreement with the City of Heppner for Sheriff’s Services 
d. Payment-in-Lieu-of-Taxes (PILOT) Solar Agreement, Tower Solar, LLC 
e. Master Services Agreement with Ducote Consulting for Grant Writing Services 
f. General Maintenance Dept. Purchase Request:  2023 Ford F-550 Pickup 
g. Parks Dept. Purchase Request:  2023 Ford F-550 Pickup 
h. Property Tax Refund Application:  Amazon, $2,534.21 

5. Business Items 
a. Select Alternate for the Lower Umatilla Basin Groundwater Management Area 

Committee  
b. Select Fourth Alternate to the Columbia Development Authority Board  
c. Select Alternates to the Columbia River Enterprise Zone II and III Boards  

6. Department Reports 
a. Assessment & Tax Quarterly Report (Mike Gorman, Assessor/Tax Collector) 
b. Sheriff’s Office Monthly Report (Melissa Camarillo) 
c. Local Public Safety Coordinating Council (LPSCC) Quarterly Report, (Jessica 

Rose) 
7. Commissioner Liaison Reports 
8. Correspondence 
9. Commissioner Reports 
10. Signing of documents 
11. Adjournment 
 

Agendas are available every Friday on our website (www.co.morrow.or.us/boc under 
“Upcoming Events”).  Meeting Packets can also be found the following Monday. 
 
The meeting location is accessible to persons with disabilities. A request for an interpreter for the 
hearing impaired or for other accommodations for persons with disabilities should be made at 
least 48 hours before the meeting to Roberta Lutcher at (541) 676-5613. 
 
Pursuant to ORS 192.640, this agenda includes a list of the principal subjects anticipated to be 
considered at the meeting; however, the Board may consider additional subjects as well. This 
meeting is open to the public and interested citizens are invited to attend. Executive sessions are 
closed to the public; however, with few exceptions and under specific guidelines, are open to the 

http://www.co.morrow.or.us/boc


 
Morrow County Board of Commissioners Agenda                                                        Page 2 of 2 
 
 

media. The Board may recess for lunch depending on the anticipated length of the meeting and 
the topics on the agenda. If you have anything that needs to be on the agenda, please notify the  
Board office before noon of the preceding Friday.  If something urgent comes up after this 
publication deadline, please notify the office as soon as possible. If you have any questions about  
items listed on the agenda, please contact Chair Jim Doherty at (541) 571-0584. 
 

Zoom Meeting Information 
 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546  Password:  97836  Meeting ID: 541-676-2546 
 
Zoom Call-In Numbers for Audio Only Using Meeting ID 541-676-2546#: 

• 1-346-248-7799 
• 1-669-900-6833  
• 1-312-626-6799 

• 1-929-436-2866 
• 1-253-215-8782 
• 1-301-715-8592 

 
 
 

https://zoom.us/j/5416762546






















































































































































































































2022-23 Property Tax
Prepared by Mike Gorman, Morrow County Assessor/Tax Collector

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 1



2022-23  Values

 Taxable Value - $3,759,690,030
 Market Value  - $9,228,177,745

 Exemptions (SIP and EZ)
 SIP  - $1,269,106,755
 EZ   - $4,033,767,140

(Taxable and Market values are rounded)

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 2



2022-23 Tax Amounts

 Total Certified Property Taxes to Collect - $54,070,119.75
 Morrow County’s Portion - $15,363,749.17
 The week of November 14-18, we collected over $33 

Million in property taxes and an additional $10 Million 
in SIP and EZ Payments.

 As of November 30, a balance of $2.9 Million of current 
year Taxes left to collect.  (about 95% collected)

 $3.7 Million for all years left to collect

 (Property Tax Amounts Rounded)

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 3



Current - Previous Year Value and Tax 
Amounts
2022-23
 Taxable Value - $3,759,690,030

 An increase of $823,696,830

 Which is mostly due to expiring exemptions.  

 Residential, commercial and industrial new construction along 
with the statutory 3% increase in assessed value does contribute, 
just not to the level of Amazon’s expired EZ exemptions.

 Market Value - $9,228,177,745

 An increase of $1,099,435,000

 Certified Tax - $54,070,119.75

 An increase of $10.63 Million.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

4



2022-23 Property Taxes - Generally

 Boardman City Limits – The combined total tax rate for properties inside the 
Boardman City Limits is lower this year due to the City levied a much lower 
Bond amount.  2021 Bond Rate - $1.99/$1,000 and 2022 - $.44/$1,000

 Outer  Boardman and Irrigon Areas – A few cents lower than last year.

 Heppner City Limits – Tax rate decreased a little, but Market Values increased 
30% resulting in many properties having compression reduced due to the City 
of Heppner’s high tax rate.  $10.6209/$1,000  (Total Tax Rate $24.0856)

 Ione School District – Properties within the Ione School District Boundary have 
an increased tax rate of about $.42 due to an appeal by Pacific Gas 
Transmission, which is a major contributor of value for the school district.

 Rural South County – A few cents lower than last year. 

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 5



2022 SIP Properties
Willow Creek Energy
 2022 SIP CSF Payment - $81,569.68

 The County’s portion of the payment is $21,145.74

 Exempt Tax Amount - $320,081.85
 Exempt Value - $19,931,990
 We share this project with Gilliam County

 37.5% allocated to Gilliam and 62.5% allocated to 
Morrow

 This agreement included a $40,000/year School Grant 
Payment for the first 5 years.  ($200,000)

 This project only has 1 year left on its exemption.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

6



2022 SIP Properties
Echo Winds
 2022 SIP Payment - $80,029.32

 The County’s portion of the payment is $60,043.48 and does not  share 
in a portion of the CSF.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $77,974.77
 Exempt Value - $6,331,845
 We share this project with Umatilla County

 50% allocated to Umatilla and 50% allocated to Morrow
 This agreement included a $80,000/year Local Improvement 

Payment for the first 5 years.  ($400,000)
 This project only has 1 year left.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

7



2022 SIP Properties
Shepard Flats
 2022 SIP Payment - $1,504,466.56

 Community Service Fee of $500,000 and Additional Amount of $1,004,466.56

The County’s portion of the CSF is $126,292.00 and receives all of the 
additional amount.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $3,844,611.44

 Exempt Value - $239,409,880

 Payment of $21,500 to CREA comes out of County’s portion.

 This project has 4 years remaining.

 Caithness sold this project to Brookfield Renewables, a Canadian company, in 
2020.  Brookfield Renewables have invested in a “repower” of new blades and 
gearboxes.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

8



2022 SIP Properties
PGE Carty Co-Gen Plant
 2022 SIP Payment - $2,170,073.00

 Community Service Fee of $500,000.00 and an 
additional amount of $1,670,073

 The County does not share in CSF.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $5,106,584.80

 Exempt Value - $409,283,140

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

9



PGE SIP Payment Schedule

Year Total SIP PMT
2017 $2,075,211
2018 $2,147,194
2019 $2,224,294
2020 $2,306,877
2021 $2,395,330
2022 $2,170,073
2023 $2,271,553
2024 $2,380,247
2025 $2,496,669
2026 $2,421,369
2027 $2,554,936
2028 $2,697,999
2029 $2,851,233
2030 $3,015,363
2031 $3,191,162

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

10



2022 SIP Properties
Wheatridge Wind PGE Portion
 2022 SIP Payment - $694,728.25

 Community Service Fee of $165,000.00 and an 
additional amount of $529,728.25

 The County does not share in CSF.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $1,744,213.79

 Exempt Value - $140,795,250

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

11



2022 SIP Properties
Wheatridge Wind NextEra Portion
 2022 SIP Payment - $1,805,496.37

 Community Service Fee of $335,000.00 and an 
additional amount of $1,037,996.37 for the wind 
portion and $432,500.00 for the solar portion that 
came on line this year.

 The County does not share in CSF.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $4,445,941.24

 Exempt Value – $413,867,520

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

12



2022 SIP Properties
Orchard Wind Project
 2021 SIP Payment - $129,887.48

 Community Service Fee of $125,037.48 and an 
additional amount of $4,850.00

 The County does not share in CSF.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $487,873.37

 Exempt Value - $39,487,130

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

13

Additional Amount per SIP Agreement

Year Addt'l Amount

2021 $2,600.00

2022 $4,850.00

2023 $7,100.00

2024 $9,350.00

2025 $11,600.00

2026 $13,850.00

2027 $16,100.00

2028 $18,350.00

2029 $20,600.00

2030 $22,850.00

2031 $25,100.00

2032 $27,350.00

2033 $29,600.00

2034 $31,850.00

2035 $159,100.00

Total $400,250.00



2022 SIP Properties – Additional Payment 
totals and Community Service amounts 
distributed to Districts

 2022 Total Additional Payments - $4,739,657.66

 2022 CSF Totals - $1,726,593.00

 2022 Total SIP Exempt Taxes - $16,700,937.00

 2022 Total Exempt Value - $1,269,106,755

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

14



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Columbia River Technologies

 2022 EZ payment to CREZ II - $822,128.50

 $47,128.50 of that payment is for the BMCC, Boardman 
Park and the new Boardman Fire & Rescue District Bonds 
and $875,000 goes to CREZ II.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $1,000,731.08

 Exempt Value - $76,071,150

 This is a 10 year exemption and has 1 year remaining and 
has a predetermined payment schedule.

 CRT has opportunity for $100,000 for a “Buy Back Option”

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

15



Columbia River Technologies EZ Payment 
Schedule

Columbia River Technologies (10 Year)

Year EZ Payment (To EZ II Board)

2014 $125,000.00 

2015 $250,000.00 

2016 $350,000.00 

2017 $425,000.00 

2018 $425,000.00 

2019 $425,000.00 

2020 $425,000.00 

2021 $575,000.00 

2022 $875,000.00 

2023 $1,000,000.00 

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

16



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Lamb Weston

 2022 EZ payment to CREZ II - $1,130,857.99
 $180,857.99 of that payment is for the BMCC, Boardman 

Park, Boardman Fire and City of Boardman Bonds and 
$950,000 goes to CREZ II.

 Exempt Tax Amount - $2,734,347.73
 Exempt Value - $169,407,010
 This is a 15 year exemption, has 6 years remaining and has 

a predetermined payment schedule of $950,000.00 for each 
year of the exemption.

 Lamb Weston has opportunity for $100,000 for a “Buy Back 
Option”

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

17



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Morrow County Grain Growers

 This is a 5 year standard EZ Exemption for MCGG’s rail grain car 
unloading facility at the PoM.

 The total investment was about $7 Million.

 2022 Exempt Tax Amount - $88,499.23

 Exempt Value - $6,637,320

 This is their third year claiming the exemption.

 MCGG was billed $1,051.89 for the Boardman Fire Bond

 Per the EZ Agreement, a payment of $30,000 in years 4 and 5 is 
to be made to CREZ II, all of which can be utilized as a “Buy Back 
Option”

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

18



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
WOF PNW Threemile Project

 This is a 5 year standard EZ Exemption for a methane digester 
and pumping facility to PGE’S Carty Co-Gen Plant.

 The total investment of about $37 Million.

 Resilient IG purchased a portion from Threemile in 2020.

 2022 Exempt Tax Amount - $447,065.20.

 This is their Third year claiming the exemption.

 Per the EZ Agreement, a payment of $61,684.70 in each year is to 
be made to CREZ II, which 50% of that payment can be utilized as 
a “Buy Back Option”.  $3,596.40 was billed for the Boardman Fire 
Bond

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

19



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Amazon L&C I and Rippee Rd
 Amazon currently has 5 separate sites or locations.
 The first two sites, I refer to as Lewis & Clark I and 

Rippee Rd, both sites have multiple Standard EZ 
exemptions each.
These Standard EZ exemptions are from agreements 

made in 2013, 2014 and 2016.
The 2013 and 2014 exemptions have expired  and 

the 2016 agreements still have a substantial amount 
of exemption and will expire in 2023.

Amazon wanted a graduated payment schedule with 
the payments to CREZ II to increase during the 
exemption.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

20



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Amazon L&C I and Rippee Rd  Standard EZ  
Payments to EZ Board

 L & C I

 EZ Payment - $804,807.03

 Bond Amount – $29,986.48

 Rippee Rd

 EZ Payment - $791,873.99

 Bond Amount - $16,874,80

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 21



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Amazon L&C II, Olson Rd and Gar Swanson Rd

 The remaining three sites, I refer to as Lewis & Clark II, 
Olson Rd and Gar Swanson Rd, These sites all have 15 
year Long Term Rural EZ exemptions.

The L & C II agreement was finalized in 2017 and 
began its exemption in 2019.

The Olson Rd agreement was finalized in 2018 and 
began its exemption in 2020.

The Gar Swanson Rd agreement was finalized in 
2020 and this is the first year of its exemption.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 22



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Amazon L&C II, Olson Rd and Gar Swanson Rd

 All three of these LTR EZ agreements have a payment 
schedule of $1 million per building or data center 
located at that site, with a minimum payment of       
$2 million per year.  

 There is also an additional payment calculation of $25 
million x the property tax rate for that area in that 
year.  (The $25 million is indexed 3% per year, similar 
to the Community Service Fee related to the SIP 
Program)

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

23



Amazon L&C II, Olson Rd and Gar Swanson Rd 
LTR EZ Payments to EZ Board
 Lewis & Clark II Site

 EZ Fee - $5,060,000

 Additional Amount - $363,225.25

 Olson Rd Site

 EZ Fee - $2,000,000

 Additional Amount - $480,587.70

 Gar Swanson Rd Site

 EZ Fee - $2,000,000

 Additional Amount - $332,402.50

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 24



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions

 Standard EZ Exemptions (3-5 years) tend to have a 
larger exemption percentage than LTR EZ Exemptions.

 Analyzing a particular company’s percent of exemption 
on a given year can be misleading due to each 
individual  payment structure, valuation, either from 
the DOR or local assessment and the actual tax rates.

 The percent of exemption will change from year to 
year.

 A full analysis should performed at the end of the 
exemption period.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 25



2022 Enterprise Zone Exemptions
Total Payments

 2022 EZ Payments to the CREZ II Board - $13,729,646.92

 2022 EZ Bond Payments - $279,111.31

 2022 EZ Exempt Tax Amount - $57,169,499.88

 2022 EZ Exempt Value - $4,033,767,140

 *EZ Payment Amounts do not have “Buyback Amounts” removed

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 26



2022 Top 20 Tax Payors

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

27

NAME TAX_AMOUNT RMV* AV
AMAZON DATA SERVICES, INC $20,691,726.33 $4,021,943,860 $1,561,640,110
AVISTA CORPORATION $3,343,707.42 $207,160,000 $207,160,000
THREEMILE CANYON FARMS, LLC $3,140,766.73 $292,521,899 $246,859,935
LAMB WESTON, INC $2,545,166.24 $3,361,544,150 $157,528,390
PORTLAND GENERAL ELECTRIC CO $2,149,638.54 $684,611,000 $139,896,860
GAS TRANSMISSION NORTHWEST CORP $1,210,341.60 $81,353,112 $81,353,112
COLUMBIA RIVER PROCESSING, INC $746,573.28 $56,560,870 $56,518,670
PORT OF MORROW $515,423.04 $41,905,245 $36,298,039
PORT VIEW APARTMENTS, LLC $433,010.87 $28,410,010 $23,942,920
FARMLAND RESERVE, INC $388,722.99 $50,732,338 $29,503,233
UNION PACIFIC RAILROAD CO $378,472.86 $128,676,273 $29,355,290
RDO/CALBEE FOODS LLC $343,977.29 $26,147,630 $26,147,630
OREGON POTATO COMPANY $292,854.56 $18,471,139 $18,092,471
ALTO COLUMBIA, LLC $285,092.53 $21,671,470 $21,671,470
WILLOW CREEK ENERGY LLC $276,017.09 $37,120,000 $17,188,010
ORCHARD WIND PROJECT $257,763.49 $60,350,000 $20,862,870
PACIFICORP (PP&L) $245,434.68 $18,694,000 $18,694,000
LUMEN TECHNOLOGIES INC $233,898.48 $15,842,000 $15,842,000
TIDEWATER BARGE LINES INC $217,307.10 $9,320,000 $9,320,000
EASTERDAY DAIRY, LLC $191,634.06 $15,513,059 $15,222,723



2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation

28

Morrow County Values and Taxes 2013-Current

Year RMV AV Certified Tax
2013 $2,877,019,573 $1,682,426,033 $27,133,187.16
2014 $3,089,994,545 $1,774,504,324 $27,839,804.90
2015 $3,625,832,410 $2,043,538,478 $32,228,046.43
2016 $4,078,799,116 $2,256,129,368 $32,711,386.09
2017 $4,700,766,633 $2,069,395,917 $31,885,372.64
2018 $5,114,350,191 $2,248,142,683 $35,192,765.05
2019 $5,786,369,143 $2,470,622,726 $37,334,205.53
2020 $6,414,500,000 $2,752,050,000 $39,558,815.40
2021 $8,128,742,740 $2,935,993,206 $43,706,964.97
2022 $9,228,177,745 $3,759,690,030 $54,070,119.75

Percentage of Increase
221% 123% 99%



Value Increases

 The increase in Real Market Value (RMV) is mostly from new industrial and utility 
value.  The reason the taxable value increase (AV) is not proportional to RMV is 
because a number of the new industrial and utility properties have received a 
property tax exemption, either through the Enterprise Zone Program or the 
Strategic Investment Program.  Those exemptions last from 3-15 year and are 
unique to each property, after which those properties will added to the AV.  
Several food processing plants, ethanol producing plants and data centers 
contribute to the industrial growth.  4 major wind production projects and a large 
scale gas fired power plant contribute to the utility component of value.  The 2017 
decrease in  AV is due to Portland General Electric's Carty Plant starting its 15 year 
SIP Exemtpion.   The increases from 2018-Current is mostly due to Amazon's 
expiring EZ Exemptions.  Amazon contiuniues to invest and construct new data 
centers in Morrow County.  There has been substantial residential and commercial 
value growth throughout the North end of the County but not to the extent of the 
industrial and utility value growth.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 29



What can we expect in 2023?

 Values should continue to increase from new residential, 
commercial and industrial development as well as 
expiring exemptions.

 The amount of preliminary partition and subdivision plats 
have not decreased.

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 30



Whew!

Questions????????????????????????????????

2022-23 Property Tax and Major Exemption Presentation 31









 

Page 1 of 2 
 

11/29/22 
 
An Open Letter to Morrow County Residents: 
 
Over the past several months, Morrow County Health District has been largely silent about the conflict around EMS 
services due to the District’s ongoing participation in mediation efforts. Recently, the District became aware that 
mediation efforts had stalled out and determined it was time to provide additional important information to the public. 
 
For more than 30 years, the District has provided ambulance service to the entire county as one ambulance service area. 
We do this because it allows the District to receive enhanced federal funding when the ambulance service is associated 
with our critical access hospital. This enhanced funding is key because the District heavily subsidizes EMS services in all 
communities. Currently, the District has seven ambulances in service – two in Boardman, two in Irrigon, one in Ione, and 
two in Heppner.   
 
In 2021, the District’s board approved a new staffing model for EMS in which each dispatching location (Boardman, Irrigon, 
and Heppner) is staffed by two EMS personnel at all times working 12-hour shifts.  This plan was approved with a three-
year phase-in. Boardman went live in 2021, Irrigon in 2022, and Heppner is slated for 2023.  This model has already 
resulted in improved response times in Boardman as shown below: 
 

2022 

BOARDMAN (TIME IN MINUTES) 

899 (First Out Ambulance) 898 (Second Out Ambulance) 

Dispatch to 
En Route 

Response 
Time 

Number of 
Runs 

Dispatch to 
En Route 

Response 
Time 

Number of 
Runs 

January 1.0 5.1 51.0 0.5 6.5 2.0 

February 1.2 5.0 48.0 5.2 7.0 2.0 

March 1.0 4.7 46.0 0.1 3.1 1.0 

April 1.0 3.8 34.0 0.5 3.7 10.0 

May 0.6 4.0 46.0 0.0 0.0 1.0 

June 0.6 3.7 38.0 1.1 2.7 8.0 

July 0.9 5.0 48.0 1.0 5.0 4.0 

August 0.5 2.7 7.0 0.5 3.8 31.0 

September - - 0.0 0.8 5.2 49.0 

October 0.5 2.4 25.0 0.3 4.0 17.0 

Dispatch to en route means the length of time between when the ambulance is dispatched to when the ambulance leaves the garage. 
Response time means the length of time between the notification to the ambulance and the arrival of the ambulance at the incident 
scene.  Note that response times are not adjusted for miles traveled and in some instances include non-emergent transfers. 

 
The licensing of a competing ambulance service in Boardman will jeopardize the current levels of service provided in all 
cities in Morrow County, including Irrigon, Boardman, Heppner, Lexington, and Ione.  A competing service in Boardman 
will eliminate the District’s eligibility for enhanced federal funding across the District’s entire ambulance service (not just 
in Boardman). Given the high rate at which the District currently subsidizes EMS services (approximately $550,000 per 
fully staffed location), a decrease in funding puts existing services in serious peril in all locations. 
 



 

Page 2 of 2 
 

With the high rates of subsidy, one might wonder why Morrow County Health District wishes to retain EMS services across 
the entire county. EMS services have long been a core part of MCHD’s mission to serve the county. Most ambulance 
providers will not bid to provide services in a region in which they expect to take a loss. Because no other entities are 
eligible for enhanced federal funding, other entities cannot provide this service in a more cost-effective manner than 
MCHD.  As a public entity, the District considers this a core public safety service, which must be preserved even when that 
requires a significant subsidy. 
 
The District does not oppose the addition of more resources to support EMS anywhere in the county.  If another 
ambulance provider can work in tandem with MCHD to supplement services, we would welcome that. Any such 
arrangement must safeguard the District’s current funding, which is necessary to sustain EMS across the entire county. 
The best way forward if another ambulance provider wishes to operate in Morrow County is through a contract with 
MCHD.  The District is open to considering all such contracts that are in the best interests of the public. 
 
For the past two years, MCHD has attempted to partner with Boardman Fire Rescue District to find a mutually agreeable 
solution to incorporate BFRD into the ambulance service system in Morrow County. At this point, we feel EMS services 
across the county are in jeopardy if we cannot reach an agreement that does not eliminate MCHD’s federal funding.     
 
We call on all Morrow County residents to support MCHD to preserve and enhance critical ambulance services. All 
residents in Morrow County have the right to high-quality ambulance services. Please consider contacting your local 
representatives, be that County Commissioners or elected board members, and encourage them to support MCHD and 
our efforts to provide ambulance services to everyone in Morrow County. This issue is too important to ignore. 

 
Sincerely, 
 
Emily Roberts 
Chief Executive Officer 
Morrow County Health District 



 

 

 

 

 

Troy S. Bundy 

 

tsb@hartwagner.com 

Admitted in Oregon and Washington 

 

 

November 4, 2022 

 

VIA EMAIL 

 

 

Emily Reynolds Roberts 

Chief Executive Officer 

Morrow County Health District  

564 E. Pioneer Drive  

Heppner, OR 97836 

 

 

Re:  Morrow Co. Health District / Boardman Fire & Rescue 

 Our File No. 30931 

 

Dear Ms. Reynolds Roberts: 
 

 This letter can be shared with those who are inquiring, but it is not to be considered a 

waiver of any attorney-client privilege we might share. It represents my limited legal opinion 

with respect to current events.  

 

It is my understanding that the Boardman Fire and Rescue District intends to appear at 

the next BOC meeting to request what is known as a letter supporting a determination of need for 

them to have another ambulance running in Morrow County. This letter would be presented to 

the Oregon Health Authority, as it is required in order for an ambulance license to be granted by 

the State. However, there are some legal problems with this that I have highlighted previously.  

Additional legal authority was uncovered, as well, that provides additional insight and should be 

considered.  This authority takes the form of Morrow County Ordinance No. MC-C-4-98.  The 

Ordinance is a law signed by the BOC and the Morrow County Circuit Court.  It is a published 

law that does not appear to have been repealed, and is attached to this letter.  It does not change 

any of my previous legal interpretations.  However, it highlights some important issues and 

supports my conclusion that the ASA Plan is an actual law on the books in Morrow County.  

 

 Section 3 of the County Ordinance establishes Ambulance Service Areas and “the 

methods for selecting ambulance service providers” for each service area in the County.  Section 

6 of the Ordinance allows the County Court to adjust those ASA boundaries and incorporates 

the ASA Plan into the ordinance, itself; thus, making the ASA Plan the established law of the 

County.  

Twentieth Floor 

1000 S.W. Broadway 

Portland, Oregon 97205 

Telephone (503) 222-4499 

Fax (503) 222-2301 

mailto:tsb@hartwagner.com


Emily Reynolds Roberts 

November 8, 2022 

Page 2 

 

 

 

 Section 7(1) of the ordinance states as follows:  “No person shall provide ambulance 

service in Morrow County, unless an Ambulance Service Area has been assigned to that 

person pursuant to this section.”  In order to become an ambulance service area provider, 

whether one is looking at the ordinance, the ASA Plan from 1998, or the latest version of the 

ASA Plan, the process is all the same. 

 

 I reported this in a previous letter, but to save time reviewing separate documents, I am 

including it here.  The ASA Plan covers new ambulance service provider applications on pages 

24 and 25 of the Plan. Paragraph 1 of the “PROVIDER SELECTION” section states as follows: 

 

“Morrow County Ambulance Service (MCAS), owned and 

operated by the Morrow County Health District, and who have 

been providing ambulance service for the past fifty years shall be 

named to provide ambulance service in their area of 

assignment as specified in this plan, until such time they no 

longer desire to do so or legal steps have been taken to remove 

the provider from the assigned area:” 

 

 This section implies that only one ambulance service can be assigned to the Ambulance 

Service Area at any given time, not two.  There are two options: (1) MCAS can choose to step 

down or (2) The Health District can “remove” the Morrow County Ambulance Service from the 

assigned area/ASA (Ambulance Service Area).  So, there can be only one ambulance service 

provider in any given ASA under the Plan, as it is written. 

 

 Also, please note the “colon” at the end of the section (“from the assigned area:”).  This 

means that the words following this statement set out the “legal steps” to be taken to become an 

approved ambulance service provider under the plan.  This is described in Paragraph 3(a)-(d).  In 

this section, the ASA Plan states that any provider wishing to run an ambulance in the ASA (aka 

“Morrow County”) must prepare an application and do the following: (1) Meet all standards 

contained in the ASA Plan applicable to ambulance service providers; (2) The Health District 

must meet and determine whether the current service provider is effective and efficient and, if 

not, whether the applicant would help improve this; (3) If a new service area provider is required, 

this must be advertised, so other providers in the area can have an opportunity to apply; and (4) 

The Morrow County Health District is responsible for reviewing all applications and consulting 

with the EMS Advisory Committee in making those decisions on approving a new provider. 

 

 The County is responsible for approving the ASA Plan and then delegated the 

implementation, coordination and preservation of that Plan to the Health District.  This occurred 

decades ago.  As stated in the ASA on page 17:  “COORDINATION-ADMINISTRATION 

OF THE PLAN: (1) The Morrow County ASA Plan shall be administered by the EMS 

Advisory Committee, as representatives of the Board (MCHD)… (2) The EMS Advisory 

Committee shall … recommend changes to the ASA Plan and EMS ordinance designed to … 

address ongoing growth and changes in the EMS system in Morrow County, the state and the 

nation.” 



Emily Reynolds Roberts 

November 8, 2022 

Page 3 

 

 

 

 Here, Morrow County Ambulance Service still desires to provide the ambulance service 

in the area.  So, the next question is whether proper steps have been followed to reassign the area 

in the Service Area to a new provider.  They have not.  There has been no application, there has 

been no public notice and advertisement of vacancy, there has been no determination by the 

Health District that a new (or even an additional) service provider is required, and the EMS 

Advisory Committee has not recommended an applicant.  The ASA Plan controls this activity.  

The duty to determine need for additional service providers was specifically delegated to the 

Morrow County Health District.  If the BFRD wishes to provide service, then they must 

demonstrate that need to the MCHD and its Advisory Committee.  If the MCHD determines that 

an additional service provider is required, then they will propose amendments to the Plan and 

provide that proposal to the BOC for consideration.  The BOC will then either accept or reject 

the recommendations made by the MCHD.  Upon approval, this amended version of the ASA 

Plan would be presented to the Oregon Health Authority for approval. 

 

 At this point, Chief Hughes has already presented his case to the EMS Advisory 

Committee and the request is working its way through the MCHD Board.  The Health District 

designated a multidisciplinary team of experts and professionals from all involved disciplines to 

consider all requests, like the ones made by Chief Hughes, and reach a determination with regard 

to community safety and preservation of the available resources.  Those individuals include: 

Fire, Physician Medical, Hospital Nursing, 911, EMS, QRT, etc.  If the specialty team 

determines change or modification is appropriate, in order to promote safety and efficient use of 

resources, then the Commissioners will be asked to approve that change after being presented 

with the evidence.  Circumventing the process that is detailed in the ASA Plan is not appropriate, 

as the Commissioners’ determinations may contradict the ASA Plan.   

 

The BFRD wishes to side-step the process outlined in the law/ASA Plan, requiring 

satisfaction of the aforementioned process, and proceed directly to the BOC for approval and a 

letter confirming a determination of need for an additional ambulance service for the county.  

But, the MCHD has not determined there is need and cannot make such a recommendation to the 

BOC, which has tasked them with this duty in the first place. 

 

 In short, the BOC is being asked to disregard the law of this county, make need-based 

determinations that it specifically delegated to the MCHD under promulgated law, and then issue 

a statutory letter of need without the recommendation made by the health entity they designated 

as the controlling authority on the issue.  Bluntly, this would be an illegal process in violation of 

the very ordinance the BOC created and had approved and entered by the Morrow County 

Circuit Court. 

 

      Sincerely, 

 

      s/Troy S Bundy 

 

      Troy S. Bundy 

 



Emily Reynolds Roberts 

November 8, 2022 

Page 4 

 

 

TSB/akr 

 

cc: Morrow Co. Health District 


	Agenda
	Minutes:  6-24-22 Version 1
	Minutes:  6-24-22 Version 2
	Sheriff's Services IGA w/City of Heppner
	Solar PILOT Agreement, Tower Solar, LLC
	Master Services Agreement w/Ducote Consulting - Grant Writing Services
	General Maintenance Purchase Request - Ford F-550 Pickup
	Parks Dept. Purchase Request - Ford F-550 Pickup
	Property Tax Refund Application - Amazon
	2022 Committee & Board Assignments List
	Assessment & Tax Quarterly Report
	Sheriff's Office Monthly Report
	LPSCC Quarterly Report
	Corresondence

